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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On October 3 ,  1990, t h e  Grand Jurors for the Twentieth 

Judicial Circuit in Lee County returned a three-count indictment 

against the Appellant, ANTON KRAWCZUK, f o r  first--degree premeditat- 

ed murder and first-degree felony murder in violation of section 

782.04, Florida Statutes (1989) and section 777.011, Florida 

Statutes (1’389); and f o r  robbery in violation of section 812.13, 

Florida Statutes (1983) and section 777.011, Florida Statutes 

(1989). The c r i m e s  allegedly occurred on or abou t  September 13, 

1990. (X445-446)l 

The Honorable James R. Thompson, Circuit Judge, heard a motion 

to suppress confession on July 25, 1991, and entered an order deny- 

ing the motion an August 2, 1991. (R274-354, 525 ,  544-545) There- 

after, on September 27, 1991, the Appellant entered a plea of 

guilty to the charges and asked f o r  imposition of t h e  death penal- 

ty. (R386-424) 

On February 4 and 5, 1992, after hearing testimony and argu- 

ment presented by the state, (R201-269) a jury returned an advisory 

recommendation, 12-0, that the court impose the death penalty. 

(R268-263, 5 8 4 )  On February 13, 1992, Judge Thompson imposed a 

sentence of death for first-degree murder, and a sentence of 15 

years in prison for rcbbery. (R436, 4 3 8 ,  587-594, 536-601) 

Mr. Krawccuk now appeals. 

’A co-defendant, William Poirier, was charged in the same 
indictment. On May 2 2 ,  19’32,  Poirier entered a negotiated plea to 
second-degree murder and to robbery in exchange for a sentence of 
thirty-five years in prison. 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Motion to Sua~ress Confession 

The state first called detective Peter Sbabari, Jr., of the 

Charlotte County Sheriff's Department. (R277) On the evening of 

September 13, 1390, Sbabori was dispatched to a wooded area off 

Highway 41 in s o u t h  Charlotte County where a decomposing body had 

been found. (R278) A number of other officers were already at the 

location. The remains were partially covered with a sleeping bag.  

A length of rope was tied around t h e  legs. A washrag covered with 

loosened duct tape was in the mouth. (R279) 

The victim, David Staker, eventually was identified through a 

Lee County missing p e r s m ' s  repGrt and through dental records. 

(R280-281) Lee County advised Sbabori that property including a 

VCR, TV, and sGrne weapons had been taken from Mr. Staker's resi- 

dence; and that an individual had made some statements regarding 

the p r o p e r t y .  (R252) On September 22 or 23, 1330 ,  Lee County a l s o  

advised Sbabori that they had suspects  in t h e  case the Appel- 

lant, Anton Krawczuk, and co-defendant William Poirier. (R283) 

Sbabori  and his partner, Michael Savage, vent to Lee County. 

(R283)  Allegedly MK. Krawczuk made statements to a t h i r d  party, 

Gary S i g e l m i e r ,  about property taken from Mr. Staker's house. 

Based on the information, Sbabori retrieved some of the property in 

Lehigh Acres. (R284) 

A l s o  on September 2 3 ,  1930, he learned where Mr. Krawczuk and 

Poirier lived. In the early morning hours he and four other a 
I 2 



detectives, driving t v G  cars, went to the house.  (R285-286) With- 

out a search o r  arrest warrant, and with guns drawn, t h e y  entered 

the house and took Mr. Krawczuk into custody. (R326-340, 3 4 2 - 4 3 ,  

352) 

Sbabori testified that upon arriving at the house, the detec- 

t i v e s  decided to knock on the door. Sbabori went around the side 

of the house and saw a man in t h e  back yard.  The man identified 

himself as William Poirier. Sbabori s a i d  he was a detective and 

needed t o  speak t o  h i m  a t  the sheriff's office. (R287-285) He did 

not place P o i r i e r  under arrest at t h a t  time. (€3288) Upon being 

asked, F o i r i e r  said the Appellant was in t h e  house and that the 

detectives could go inside. (R283) 

Sbabori remained outside with Poirier; although Poirier was 

not i n  custody or handcuffed, Sbabori and detective Savage t r a n s -  

ported h i m  to the sheriff's department where he was questioned. 

(R289) Sbabari believed Detective Hollan t o o k  the Appellant t o  the 

sheriff's department. (R230-291) 

The detectives had no arrest warrant and no search warrant. 

T h e y  just decided to knock on the door to gain information. (R293) 

The group of detectives went to t h e  home to g e t  informatian such as 

descriptions and locations, p o s s i b l y  for an affidavit for a search 

warrant. (R292) Before  they went to the residence there was some 

discussion of getting a search warrant but not an a r r e s t  warrant. 

(R293) 

Michael Savage, Sbabori's partner, described t h e  two detec-  

tives as in secondary roles because they  were outside their juris- 
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diction. (R301) He saw Sbabar i  approach Poirier and ask to speak 

t o  h im.  (R301) Poirier was not arrested or handcuffed, and went 

voluntarily t o  the sheriff's department where he eventually was 

arrested. (R302) 

Savage saw Mr. Krawczuk at the front door of the house. To 

h i s  knowledge t h e  Appellant was not under arrest a t  that time. 

( R 3 0 3 )  Later, at the sheriff's department, Savage and detective Ed 

Tamayo questioned Mr. Krawczuk and took his statement after they 

gave him Miranda warnings. Mr. Krawczuk also s igned  a waiver of 

wights form in Savage's presence. (R303-306, 573) 

Savage d i d  not tape the initial questioning of the Appellant. 

(R307) Mr. Krawczuk first s t a t e d  he was n o t  involved in the crime, 

but Savage told him to tell the truth. Savage alsa told him he had 

recovered some of Mr. Staker's property. (R307-308) After t h i s  

"pre-interview," Savage took a formal taped statement from Mr, 

Krawczuk after again  advising him of h i s  r i g h t s  under Miranda. 

(R308-310) Before the  detectives went to the home t h e y  discussed 

getting a search warrant. (R311) 

Jeff IIollan, an agent with the Lee County Sheriff's Office, 

worked w i t h  Ed Tamayo on t h e  case,  and was one of the officers who 

went to the residence of Mr. Krawczuk. (R312-315) Their purpose 

was to meet with two Charlotte County deputies, kncck on the door, 

and ask Mr. Krawczuk and P o i r i c r  t o  come down to the sheriff's 

department t o  speak w i t h  them. (R316) HGllan was t h e  officer who 

knocked on t h e  front doar. (R316) Hollan believed he was l e t  i n t o  

the house by Mr. Krawczuk and Ed Tamayo. (R317) M r .  Krawczuk Gjas a 
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not under arrest or in handcuffs, but  Tamayo asked him to go to the 

sheriff's department, and Mr. Krawczuk agreed to g o .  (R317-318) 

The Appellant was not offered the opportunity to drive to headquar- 

ters and meet the officers there. (R320) The Appellant rode in the 

back seat of Tamayo's car, with  Hollan sitting beside him. (R320- 

321) 

Ed Tamayo was a detective with the Lee County Sheriff's 

Department. He investigated the missing person's report on Mr. 

Staker. (R322-325) After Mr. Staker's body was found and other 

Gfficers had recovered property stolen from Mr. Staker's house, 

Tamayo was called to a meeting at 7:OO a.m. on SEptember 2 3 ,  1990. 

(R327) He learned of the two suspects and was one of the officers 

who went ta the Appellant's home. (R328) Tamayo was one who 

knocked a t  the front door. He then thought someone was trying t o  

escape and went t o  the back of the house where he found Poirier in 

custody of the detectives from Charlotte County. ( R 3 2 P )  Tamayo 

then told agent Hollan to go in the house.  He also asked Poirier 

where t h e  .22--caliber p i s t o l  was, and Poirier said it was in a 

duffel bag i n  his bedroom. (R329) Tamayo t hen  went in t h e  house. 

Mr. Krawczuk just stoGd as he approached. Tamayo d i d  not place him 

under "physical" arrest, but asked Mr. Krawczuk t o  ga dowztown. 

( R 3 3 1 )  

When asked if he intended t o  place Mr. Krawczuk under arrest 

at the time he went to his home, Tamayo responded: "I believed 

initially that the probable cause may have existed; however, at 

t h i s  p o i n t  we WePTeXi't positive that they were i n  the home, and 

5 



basically the main reason f o r  going there was t h a t  they were t h e r e  

to take them downtown voluntarily for questioning." ( R 3 2 3 )  

Tamayo also was presen t  a t  the time Mr. Krawczuk was ques- 

t i o n e d  and ultimately placed under arrest. ( R 3 2 3 - 3 2 4 )  He later 

obtained a search warrant for the residence for the purpose of 

recovering the .22-caliber pistol. (R335) 

At t he  time Tamayo f i r s t  net with the other officers on 

September 23, he did not discuss the possibility of getting a 

search warrant or an arrest warrant. ( R 3 2 6 )  When he en te red  the 

house, he and at least one other deputy had their guns drawn. He 

could see that Mr. Krawczuk was not armed. (R337) Tamayo and 

Hollan walked beside Mr. Krawczuk to t h e  car. (R340) 

The Appellant testified that on the morning of September 23, 

1390, he was at home i n  h i s  living room when he sax a deputy's car 

and other unmarked ca r s  swing inta the driveway, and pGlice sur- 

rounded the house. (R340-341) Mr. Krawczuk heard a knock at the 

front doar and s t o o d  near the door. At t h e  side of the house he 

saw police with t h e i r  guns drawn standing on either side of Poirier 

who had his hands behind h i s  head. (R342, 352) Then two or three 

officers came in the back sliding door with their guns drawn. 

( R 3 4 2 )  They asked him t o  identify himself, stand still, and put 

his hands behind h i s  head. The guns remained drawn and he thought 

the officers would shoot. ( R 3 4 3 )  The request to g o  t o  headquarters 

was m o r e  like a demand. He felt intimidated, believed he Gas under 

arrest, and believed he had no option but to go to headquarters. 

(R344, 354) Once there he was taken into an interrogation room 

@ 
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with twG detectives. He signed the waiver G f  rights form because 

he was told to. He cGaperated out of fear, confusion, and the 

feeling of intimidation. (R345-347) 

The court ruled that the officers' initial entry into t h s  

house without a warrant O K  p r o p e r  consent was illegal, but that the 

Appellant's statzrnents were admissible because they  were voluntary 

and he waived his Miranda rights. (R544--545) 

Plna 

On SeptembEr 27, 1991, defense counsel advised Judge Thompsm 

that the Appellant desired to withdraw h i s  p l e a  of n o t  guilty and 

e n t e r  an open plea of guilty to the charges, requesting the imposi- 

t i o n  of t h e  death penalty. ( R 3 8 8 )  Mr. Krawczuk previously wrote  to 

Judge Thompson on A p r i l  29 ,  1991, expressing dissatisfaction with 

the services of defense counsel and ask ing  that she be dismissed. 

(R522-523) After hearing, (R645-649) the c o u r t  denied the request 

by order dated May 30, l991.(R524) 

The court readdressed t h i s  issue before accepting Mr. 

vu lkLawc~uk's plea. (R388) M r .  Krawczuk testified that he was com- 

plztely satisfied with defense counsel's representation and the 

actions she had taken ofi his behalf. (R3S8, 400--401) 

The court then advised t h e  Appellant that he had a right to 

enter a plea of guilty. As to the request far the death penalty, 

he w a s  advised that the judge is obligated to weigh aggravating 

f a c t o r s  and mitigating factors in making that final decision. A 

rEquest €or the death penalty would probably n o t  be an aggravating 
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factor and probably would not enter i n t o  the decision of whether or 

nct t o  imy;ase it. ( R 3 8 3 - 3 9 0 ,  417) 

The court adviser! Mr. Krawczuk that he could only be adjudged 

guilty s f  first-degree premeditated murder or felony murder, but 

n o t  bath. The maximum sentence f o r  murder is the death  penalty. 

A p l e a  of guilty to the robbery could result in a maximum sentence 

of fifteen years in prison. There were no plea  agreements involved 

in his case. (R390--391). Mr. Krawczuk also was advised of the two 

phases of a murder trial and expressed a desire to a l s o  waive  the 

right t o  havz the jury make a sentencing recommendation. (R391-393) 

The court accepted the waiver, but ruled that it was not irrevoc- 

able. (R416) 

The Appellant was questioned and responded as follows: 

He testified he was not f o r c e d ,  threatened, G ~ T  coerced into 

entering the plea. (R333) H e  was on medication, the anti-depres- 

sant Elavil, which calmed him and helped him get t o  sleep. He last 

t o o k  the drug t h e  previous night a t  8 1 0 0  p.m. ( R 3 9 3 - 3 9 4 ,  412-413) 

He had not previously suffered from or been t r e a t e d  for any kind of 

mental disarder or mental health problems. (R395) He went to the 

prison psychiatrist because he grew restless as his case neared 

trial; he wanted a mild sedative t o  sleep. (R395) The medication 

was n o t  affecting h im a t  the p lea .  (R412-413) 

The Appellant completed high school. He served in the Marines 

f o r  four years and t h e n  wcrked as a maintenance person for ten  

years.  (R395) He testified he understood and was giving up h i s  

right to remain silent, the right to have h i s  guilt or innocence 

a 



determined by a jury, the right to a jury recommendation as to his 

sentence, the right to confront witnesses and challenge evidence, 

the right to be presumed innocent until guilt was proved beyond and 

to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt ,  and the right to sub- 

poena and call witnesses. (R335-401, 414) He talked over with h i s  

attorney, but no one else, his decision to plea. (R402) 

The assistant state attorney, Mr. Bower, asked t h e  Appellant 

about pending moticns, and M r ,  Krawczuk responded t h a t  he was waiv-- 

ing t h e  right f a r  the rnot ians  to be heard.  (R402-404, 414)2 There 

was no specific xaiver o r  reservation of Appellant's motion tG 

suppress confession which had been heard and denied by the court; 

introduction of the confession during t h e  penalty phase was 

objected tG by defense counsel. (R543-545, 89.-90, lC3) The b r i e f  

colloquy concerning t h e  motion t o  suppress confession reflected 

only the following questions from the assistant state attorney: 

MR. BOWER: And you're aware that there has already been 
a motion to suppress  filed and heard in this case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, sir. 

MR. BOWER: And dG you have any matters with regard t o  the 
suppression i s s u e  that you feel should be brought before this 
Court that have not already been brought  before this C o u r t ?  

'The motions were: motion to prohibit introduction of 
evidence of nonstatutory aggravating circumstances and t o  permit 
evidence of nonstatutory mitigating evidence at the penalty phase 
[R477-,481]; motion fG? funding for a mitigation specialist; motion 
f o r  statement of aggravating circumstances [482-4551; motion to 
prevent juror challenge due t o  views on punishment not affecting 
judgment on issues af guilt [R508-512]; motion t o  dismiss indict- 
ment [R498--507]; motion to preclude challenges f o r  cause [R513- 
5173; motions for jury sequestration and f o r  individual voir dire 
CR495-4961; motion to prohibit the state from introducing evidence 
to rebut mitigating circumstances in its case in chief [R492-434]. 
(R402-404) 
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THE DEFENDANT: NG, sir. 

(R404) 

Defense counsEl advised t h e  trial court that the Appellant was 

entering t h e  plea and requesting the death penalty against her 

advice but that he had the constitutional right to do so. She had 

been commanded by Mr. Krawczuk n o t  to call witnesses in mitigation. 

She had been instructed only to stand by the Appellant but n o t  t o  

take any action on his behalf. (R404-405, 407-408) At the request 

of the state and concurrence by defense counsel, the trial court 

acceFted into t h e  record  t h o  report of Dr. Keown whi;, s i x  months 

earlier, had evaluated Mr. Krawczuk for competency in preparatim 

f o r  trial. (R405-408, 606A) 

Upon questioning by the c o u r t  Mr. Krawczak advised Judge 

Thompson that he f e l t  he should n o t  be allowed to live for what he 

did. He had never been involved in a suicide attempt. (R409) He 

testified he aiid h i s  c c d e f e n d a n t  were motivated by robbery and 

plotted the murder far about a week. T h e y  planned how to get into 

the victim's house  and start a physical altercation. Mr. Krawczuli 

strangled the victim to death .  (R410-412) Mr. Krawczuk had given 

considerable thought to the  plea and discussed it with his attor- 

ney. (R415) 

The court accepted the plea, finding i t  to be freely and vol- 

untarily entered with the understanding of legal rights and an 

effective waiver of those rights; finding the Appellant competent 
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to make the Flea; and finding a factual basis f o r  the Flea. 

( ~ 4 1 6 ) ~  The court ordered a pre-sentence investigation, and adju- 

dicated Mr. Rrawczuk. (R417, 420-421, 606B) 

Penalty Phase 

On October 29,  1991, the state posited it would not waive t h e  

penalty phase in Mr. Iirawczuk's case, and t h e  c o u r t  agreed.  (R654,- 

655) 

On January 13, 1992, a motion pertaining to Mr. Krawczuk's 

competency to be sentenced was filed by Robert R. Jacobs, counsel 

for the co-defendant William Pairier. The Honorable James M. 

Seals, Circuit Judge, heard argument on February 3, 1992, that 

pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.21C and 3.214, 

the court should order a further evaluation of Mr. Krawczuk's com- 

petency. Mr. Jacobs urged that Mr. Krawczuk might be suffering 

suicidal ideation and the effects of  t h e  psychotropic medication 

Elavil, particularly in light of his determination t o  seek the 

dEath penalty with the assistance of counsel, and his determination 

n o t  t o  offer any evidence of mitigation thus assuring affirmance 

of his case on appeal and using h i s  attorney as a constitutional 

prop. (R662-670) Mr. Bower, the assistant state attorney, advised 

a 

3The court inccrparated into the factual basis f o r  t h e  plea 
the record of the motion to suppress hearing. (R412) The suppres- 
sion hearing is reported at R274-384. A transcript of the taped 
confession is found at R103-185. 

4M11r. Jacobs sought a ruling that Mr. Krawczuk be reexamined 
by a p s y c h i a t r i s t  t o  determine h i s  competency to be sentenced, any 
suicidal tendencies, and his competency to be a witness in the co-- 
defendant's case. (R622-€24) 
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t h e  court that the plea colloquy clearly showed the Appellant Fias 

not under t h e  influence. (RE71) 

I asked him and I believe the Court had, if he vas under 
the effects of t h a t  drug at the time he entered t h e  p l e a .  
He s a i d  no. In f a c t ,  he said the last time he t o o k  the 
medication was the night before  early in the evening. 
And he said he felt no effects f rom it, all it d i d  was 
calm him when ha did take it, anyway. 

(R27 1- 7 2) 

The court found that it would make no ruling concerning the 

competency of Mr. Krawczuk t~ be sentenced. (R676, 6 5 2 )  

A t  the penalty phase hearing OA February 4 and 5 ,  1932, a jury 

was picked by t h e  s t a t e ;  defense counsel was instructed by t h e  

Appellant not t o  participate in v o i r  dire and d i d  n o t  participate. 

(Rf34, 7 0 1 ,  7 0 3 ,  712-838) P r i o r  t o  j u r y  selection a brief colloquy 

occurred where t h e  Appellant reiterated h i s  determination to get  

the dea th  penalty and put on no evidence in mitigation; that his 

medication sedated him and let h i m  sleep, but  he was Got under the 

influence; t h a t  he waived t h e  right to testify zrn his own behalf 

and the r i g h t  t o  have his attGrney c r o s r e x a m i n e  state witnesses 

and make closing argument; and that he was satisfied to go  before 

the jury in his j a i l  uniform. (R695-707)5 The court ruled that he 

was sufficiently intelligent and understood the consequences of h i s  

decisions, and that he had the legal right to take the course of 

action he was taking. (R706) 

5At t h e  plea and penalty stages the t r i a l  court was advised of 
case law addressing a defendant's waiver of various r i g h t s ,  
including Fettit v .  S t a t e ,  591 So. 2d 618 (Fla.), cert. d e n i e d ,  113 
S .  Ct. 110, 121 L. Ed. 2d 65 (1992); Anderson v. State, 5 7 4  So. 2d 
87 (Fla.), cert. denied, 112 S .  Ct. 114, 116 L. Ed 2d 8 3  (1991); 
Hamblen v .  State, 5 2 7  S o .  2d 800 (Fla. 19SS). (R705) 
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The state first called Charles Staub, the raommate of the vic- 

tim, David Stalier.  (R16-~18) On September 6, 1390, Mr. Staker took 

Staub t o  the airport. (RlS)) Staub was leaving f o r  a visit Kith h i s  

family in Pennsylvania. (R21) Mr. Staker gave h i m  no indication 

that Staker was in any kind of trouble or f e a r f u l  of anything. 

(R20) Staub found o u t  Mr. Staker was missing about two hours 

before his scheduled return flight to Florida when Officer Ed 

Tamayo telephoned him. (R21) 

The day after his return, the police let Staub into the hGuse 

he shared with Mr. S t a k e r .  (R22) There were a number of items 

missing from t h e  house, including a microwave, VCR, stereos, 

speakers ,  tuners, amplifiers, CD player, cassette tapes and tape  

decks, t w G  televisions, a razor, five rifles, a .22-caliber p i s t o l ,  

and a gun rack. ( R 2 3 - 2 7 )  Staub did not know Mr. Krawczuk or the 

co--defendant, William P o i r i e r .  ( R 2 8 )  

Peter Sbabori, Jr., a detective w i t h  the Charlotte County 

Sheriff's Office, was called to the sceiie where Mr. Staker's bcdy 

was found on September lS, 2990, a t  about 7:30 t o  8:OO p.m. (R30- 

31) The location was Tropical Gulf Acres off Highway 41, a sparse-  

ly populated rural area. (R31-33) The body, badly decompased and 

covered by a sleeping bag, had a gash rag in the oral cavity and a 

County Sheriff's Office, they learned that Gary Sigelrnier had 

I 0 

piece G f  duct tape partially attached t o  the skin. 

bound with rope. (R34-35) 

The ankles were 

Sbabari worked with a p a r t n e r ,  d e t e c t i v e  Michael Savage, in 

investigating the case.  (R37) Through infGrmation from the Lee 
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provided information on property  taken from Mr. Staker's residence 

and that Mr. Krawczuk and Poirier were possible suspects. ( R 3 8 )  
a 

On September 12, 1390, Edward Tamayo, a detective with the Lee 

County Sheriff's Office became involved in investigating a missing 

persons r e p o r t  on Mr. Staker. (R52--53) Tamayo went to Mr. Staker's 

I 

Sbabari was present when t h e  stolen property was located at a resi- 

dence in a rural area of Lehigh Acres. (R3S) He also accompanied 

the Lee County deputies when they went to Mr. Krawczuk's and 

Poirier's residence in Fort Myers. (R39) He transported P o i r i e r  to 

the Lee County Sheriff's Department and interviewed h i m  there. 

(R40) H e  was not present when Mr. Krawczuk was interviewed. (R.40- 

41 1 

In September 1930, Gary Sigelmier lived in North Fort Myers. 

(R42) Sigelmier kner; both F o i r i e r  and Mr. Krawczuk, and saw them 

at his residence in the  early morning hours  of September 13, 1390. 

(R44) They arrived in a cGmpact white pickup  truck and asked h i m  

to buy or store some items, including a television, microwave, 

s t e r e o ,  some rifles, a rifle rack, razor, and c a s s e t t e  tapes. (R44- 

45) H e  bought some of t h e  items for $200 and agreed to s t o r e  t h e  

rest of the items at his house. (R16) Mr. Krawczuk s a i d  something 

about having gotten enough evil out G E  his system t o  last a long 

time. (R47) Later, after Sigelmier suspected a death was involved 

and decided to g o  to the police, he w a s  paranoid abGut having the 

p r o p e r t y .  H e  moved i t  to a house  in Lehigh Acres where a former 

co-worker, John Stroud, lived. (R46-47) 



found in the l i v i f i g  room and a wallet of Mr. StakEr's, containing 

no money, was f sund in a bedroom. (R54-55) A Jacuzzi on the back 

porch was turned on and partially uncovered. (R56) 

Tamayo located M r .  Staker's roommate, Charles Staub, i n  Fenn-- 

sylvania. (R58) He later learned that Mr. Staker's white, Nissan 

pickup truck had been located in the Suneoast area where Gary 

Sigelmier lived. However, the truck was not confiscated initially 

because it was n o t  at that time connected to a crime or reported 

stolen, and it w a s  parked o f f  the roadway. (R59-60) The t r u c k  was 

later located in a remote area  of North Fort Myers. (R59) The 

Charlotte County Sheriff's Department contacted Tamayo after the 

decomposing body w a s  found, and eventually the body was identified 

as that of David Staker. (R60--61) Tamaya turned his investigation 

over t o  Charlotte County. Later, after the confessions of Mr. 

Krawczuk and Poirier, he learned that the murder actually occurred 

in Lee County. (R61-62) 

Tamayo was advised by Charlotte C G u n t y  investigators that 

p r o p e r t y  taken from Mr. Staker's residence was recovered i n  Lehigh 

Acres at the residence of John Stroud, and that t w o  suspects had 

been identified through G a r y  Sigelmier. (R62-66) Tamayo and seve- 

ral other detectives, including those from Charlotte County,  went 

t o  the residence of Mr. Krawczuk and Poirier and transported t h e  

t w o  men to the sheriff's dEpartment. (R67) There Mr. Krawczuk 

signed a rights waiver form and made t a p e d  statements in Tamayo's 

presence t h a t  he killed Cav id  Staker. (5167-70) Subsequently Tamayo 

obtained a search warrant f o r  the residence of Mr. Krawczuk and 

0 
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Poirier to recover the .22--caliber p i s t o l ,  a VCR, and a television 

stand that had been Mr. Staker's property. (R70-72) The VCR and 

gun were found in Poirier's bedroom. ( R 7 2 )  

Dr. R .  H .  Imani, Charlotte County Medical Examiner, testified 

as an expert  in forensic pathology. ( R 7 4 - 7 8 )  He was called to the 

scene where Mr. Staker's body was found ~n September 18, 1990, at 

about 1Q:OO to 1C:45 p . m . ,  and l a t e r  performed the autopsy. (R73- 

81) He found a thin bone in Mr. Staker's upper neck area fractured 

on one side. Trauma causing hemorrhaging occurred in the cheek 

area. A hand towel was in the oral cavity and duct tape also was 

found in the mouth area. (RSl) The cause af  death was asphyxia, 

caused partially by strangulation and partially by smothering. 

(RS2) It was possible for strangulation to take as long as five to 

tefi minutes t o  cause death .  ( R 8 3 )  The cause of death could have 

been manual strangulation occurring before  the Draino [sic] and 

hand towel were put in Mr. Staker's mouth. (R84) 

On September 23, 1990, Charlotte County Sheriff's r)etecti.ve 

Michael Savage went to the  residence of Mr. Krawccuk and P o i r i e r  

with his partner, Peter Sbabori, and several Lee County detectives. 

(R33-38) He later interviewed the Appellant with Lee County detec- 

tive Ed Tamayo after giving Mr. Krawczuk h i s  Miranda warnings. 

(R98--99) Mr. Rrawczuli was arrested for the murder of David Staker  

a f t e r  he gave his statement. (R186/187) 

Over defense objection t o  the confession being admitted, (R53-- 

90, 103) the tape was published to the j u r y .  (R103-185) The A ~ p e l - - -  

lant's taped statement reflected the fallowing: a 
16 



Mr. Krawczuk had known t h e  co -de fendan t ,  Wi l l iam P a i r i e r ,  f o r  

e i g h t  GT n i n e  y e a r s  and t hey  had been roommates fi;r about  six 

months. (R108-110) Mr. Krawczuk also met David S t a k e r  about  s i x  

months earlier, and engaged in c a s u a l  c o n v e r s a t i o n  w i t h  him over a 

p e r i o d  of t i m e .  ( R l l O - - l l l )  About three months l a t e r ,  Mr. S t a k e r  

i n v i t e d  t h e  Appellant t G  his house .  (Rll?) S t a k e r  offered him a 

drink and i n v i t e d  him t o  g e t  i n  his h o t  tub w i t h  him. Bath men got 

i n  t h e  t u b  nude. (R113-214) Mr. Krawczuk d i d  n o t  at t h a t  t i m e  h a w  

Mr. S t a k e r  was homosexual. However, when Mr. Staker made advances 

t o  him he allowed him t o  man ipu la t e  him with h i s  hand. (R114) 

Over t h e  three , -month  p e r i o d  b e f o r e  t h e  c r ime ,  t h e  Appe l l an t  

v i s i t e d  Mr. S t a k e r  a t  his home abou t  s i x  t i m e s .  (R115-117) 3n one 

of t h e  v i s i t s  he took Wil l iam Poirier, and Staker performed o ra l  

sex on P o i r i e r .  (R117) 

Around September 8 o r  9 ,  1 9 9 0 ,  Mr. Krawczuk and P o i r i e r  

decided t h e y  were going t o  k i l l  M r .  Staker  because they vere i n s e -  

cure  w i t h  homosexual men. (R118) ThEy dec ided  n o t  t o  u s e  weapons. 

(R119) They a l s o  planned t o  s t e a l  merchandise from M r .  Staker's 

house.  (R172) 

The Appe l l an t  called S t a k e r  t o  see i f  he  would be free on t h e  

night of  September 1 2 .  (R113-120) On that n i g h t  he and Poirier 

d r w e  t o  the house i n  t h e  1 9 8 3  Chevy hlalibu s t a t i o n  wagon t h a t  t h e  

Appe l l an t  u sed .  They took only a p a i r  of g l o v e s  each ,  which they 

concea led  in their waistbands. (R120-122) They l e f t  t h e  car  a t  an 

Amoco s t a t i o n  near M r .  Staker's house ,  and t h e n  walked t o  t h e  

house.  (R122-126) *a 
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The three watched television f o r  awhile. Mr. Staker turned on 

the hot tub- A t  Mr. Krawczuk's suggestion the three went into t h e  

bedrGom after about twerrty minutes. (R128-130A) Eventually the 

t h r e e  stripped and Staker began having oral sex with Poirier. 

(Rl31-134) The Appellant began to roughhouse with Staker, pushing 

him in the shoulder, pulling him o f f  Poirier, pushing him on the 

bed and pinnins h i m .  The idea was to test how aggressive Mr. 

Staker would become. (R134-138) The men were interrupted by a 

phone call and then Mr. Staker resumed oral sex on Poirier. The 

Appellant pulled Staker o f f  and began roughhousing again as a test; 

Poirier implied t o  the Appellant n o t  to be so rough so Mr. Staker 

would not think anything was going on. (R138-139) 

Eventually the Appellant and Poirier got dressed and put on 

their gloves. (R133-141) When Mr. Staker was on t h e  bed the Appel- 

lant jumped on h i s  back and Poirier jumped on h i s  legs; they f o r c e d  

him from the bed t o  the floor. Staker was face up. Mr. Krawczuk 

kneeled on his stomach and began choking him with both hands.  

(R141-142) Staker resisted strongly. Mr. Krawczuk thought he 

choked him f o r  five or ten minutes. Poirier helped by holding Mr. 

Staker's mouth closed and pinching closed his nose .  P o i r i e r  also 

did five or six knee draps  to Mr. Staker's face. (R143-144) 

After five to seven minutes of choking Mr. Staker, they 

stopped and heard gurgling noises. A t  t h a t  p o i n t  Poirier did a 

knee drop to Mr. Staker's heart area .  (R145-14E) The Appellant got 

Crystal Vanish and pmred it i n t o  M r .  Staker's mouth to make sure 

he was dead. Poirier held the victim's mouth open while the  Appel- 
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lant poured a mouthful Gf the chemical in and then poured water in 

to dissolve it. H e  then applied a second mouthful and water. 

(R146-148) 

They bo th  carried Mr. Staker's body frGm t h e  bedroom into the 

bathtub in case he bled, discharged fluids, o r  excreted anything. 

Saliva and blood came out of his mouth and one of thE inen p u t  a 

washcloth in Mr. Staker's mouth to s t o p  the discharge. Foirier 

taped thE cloth to his rnauth. They bGund h i s  feet while he was in 

t h e  tub in case he was alive and tried t o  get out. (R148-151, 173) 

The mEn then gathered together items including stereo equip- 

ment, a cassette deck, microwave, televisions, a VCR, CD player, 

rifles, a handgun, a gun rack, and watch. They found a sleeping 

bag, laid Mr. Stakes's body on it, wrapped it o v e r  him, and used it 

to carry him to the bed of his pickup truck. They then loaded the 

property into the truck and drove to Gary Sigelmier's. (Rl52-161) 

Earlier Pairier had called Sigelmier to t ~ ! l  him they were 

going t o  acquire some items. The Appellant and Foirier unloaded 

everything and tGak it i n t o  Sigelmier's house. Sigelmier did not 

g o  near the truck or see the body. He paid t h e  two men $200 for 

part of the property and s a i d  he would store the rest. (Rl61-163) 

Sigelmier then drove the two back to Mr. ICravczuk's station wagon 

parked at t h e  Amoco station. The Appellant and Pairier drove back 

to Sigelmier's and switched the body to the station wagon, unknown 

to Sigelmier. Mr. Krawczuli drove  the station wagon. Poirier drove 

Mr. Staker's truck, parked it off Suneoast drive, and t h e n  joined 

the Appellant in the wagzln. (R163--165) 

0 
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Mr. Krawczuk had earlier that night investigated t h e  s i t e  of 

where they wzluld leave the body in Charlotte County. He chose the 

spo t  randomly because it was somewhat rural. It was located off 

Highway 41 in Tropical Gulf A c r e s .  (R166--169) Both men carried Mr. 

Staker's body t~ a line of t rees  and placed him behind a pine tree 

with the  sleeping bag covering most of the body. (R169170) They 

then returned home to Lee County. (R171) 

The A p p e l l a n t  and Foirier k e p t  two  items taken from Mr. 

Staker's hause the .22--caliber p i s t o l  and the VCR. The items 

were in Poirier's Y O G I T ~ .  (Rl73--174) Mr. Krawczuk s a i d  he had 

watched a l o t  of violent murder movies, b u t  the acts he committed 

were frcx frustration with the homosexual community which he wanted 

t o  exterminate. (Rl82-184) 6 

The Appellant aga in  refused t o  offer anything in mitigation or 

allow his counsel to argue anything in mitigation, and waived c l o s -  

ing argument. (R190-191, 215-231, 2 5 0 )  DefEnse counsel had no 

objections to the jury instructions or jury forms as presented by 

the c o u r t .  (R218) The j u r y  requested the written transcript of Mr. 

Krawczuk's confession to which defense c o u n s e l  agreed. (R2G6) 

Sentencinq 

On February ll., 1 3 9 2 ,  t h e  state argued f a r  imposition of the 

death penalty on the basis that the  crime was heinous, atrocious, 

'Other than thE taped confessian, thE physical evidence 
introduced by t h e  state included p r o s e r t y  and photographs of 
property  taken from Mr. Staker's hoase, phGtograph Gf Mr. Staker's 
house and thE scene where the body was found, and Mr. Krawczuk's 
waiver af rights farm. (R18, 2 0 ,  3 3 ,  5 7 ,  7 2 ,  101, 103, 192) 
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and cruel (R525-427); cold and calculated by heightened premedita- 

tion (R428); and took place during the commission of a robbery 

(R428.423). Defense counsel presented no argument or evidence at 

the Appellant's request. (R420) 

On February 3-3, 1392, prior t G  impclsition of sentence, the 

court announced that it had erred in instructing the jury GE the 

heinous, atrocious, and cruel aggravatar, but  that the error was 

harmless. (R424) An order was s o  entered. (R585-586) 

The court then found the following statutory aggravating 

f ac to r s :  (1) the crime  as committed in the course of a robbery or 

for pecuniary gain, which the court merged and considered as one 

factor; (2) t h e  crime was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel; 

( 3 )  the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated 

manner with no p r e t e n s e  of moral OK legal justificatioo. (R434-435, 

587- 5 9 4 )  The cGurt found one statutory mitigating factor, the lack 

of a sigfiificant history of prior criminal activity. (R435, 557 

5 9 4 )  Based on the pre-sentence investigation and t h e  earlier 

competency evaluation of Mr. Krawczuk, the court found no non- 

statutory mitigating f a c t o r s .  (R435, 587-594, 6 0 6 A ,  60GB) 

The Fsychological evaluation by Dr. Richard Keown, done 

approximately t e n  months earlier, summarized t h a t  Mr. Krawczuk then 

had mild depressive symptoms b u t  medication intervention was n o t  at 

that time warranted. He suffered from many feelings of insecurity 

and low self-esteem, caused by his father rejecting him at an early 

age and his mother treating h i m  in a demanding and verbally abusive 

manner. He t h u s  adopted a passive approach to life. (RE06A-page 7 )  a 
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He went through a period of rebellion in early adolescence. 

In 1976 he enlisted in t h e  Marine C G ~ ~ S  where he served successful- 

ly about twa-and one half years. In 1979, he was disciplined for 

an unauthorized absence; and in 1983, he was referred t o  and 

evaluated by a psychiatrist who recommended administrative dis- 

charge due to a mixed personality disarder, immaturity and passive- 

aggressiveness. (R606A-page 2, 4) 

At the time of Dr. Keown's evaluation, Mr. Krawezuk was 31 

years old, d i v c r e e d ,  and had a three-year o l d  daughter. Dr. Keown 

found him competent t~ stand t r i a l  and sane at the time ~f the 

crime. Cf the two defendants, Mr. Krawczuk w a s  likely the more 

passive and was influenced by Poirier. (R606A- pages 4-7) 

The presentence investigation recommended life imprisonment 

and no alternative recommended disposition. (R606B-page 7 )  
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

I. The arrest of the Appellant in his home, without a warrant or 

probable cause, was illegal; h i s  subsequent statianhouae confession 

was tainted with no intervening circumstances attenuating the ille- 

gality. The c m f e s s i o n  was therefore inadmissible and should have 

been suppressed. Review of this issue is both proper and necessary 

under statutary and rule provisions, and federal and state case 

law. In death penalty cases, where the validity and voluntariness 

of the plea is in question, and on the basis of an insufficient 

plea colloquy, the Court must fully review the merits of the sup '  

p r e s s i o n  issue and determiiie the voluntariness, and the factual and 

legal soundness, of the p l e a .  

11. The Appellant's p l e a  also cannot be deemed voluntary because 
a 

the trial court failed to conduct a proper cGlloquy c m c e r n i n g  

Appellant's increased depression and use of the psychotropic medi- 

cation, E l a v i l .  

The c o u r t  a l s o  failed to g i v e  attention to several f a c t o r s  

which raised sufficient doubt of competency to mandate a more 

thorough court inquiry, and possible further evaluation. 

These errors render the alsG plea involuntary. 

1 x 1 .  The trial court erred by i t s  own recognition in instructing 

the  jury on the IlAC factor, and t h e  judge erred in his consider- 

ation of this f a c t o r  because he also failed to apply the narrow 

construction required under federal and state law. The error was 
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not harmless because t he  state failed to prove  by p r o p e r  evidence 

and beyond a reasonable doubt  t h a t  the  v i c t i m  w a s  f u l l y  conscious. 

IV. In addition t o  inproperly finding the HAC f a c t o r ,  t h e  trial 

c o u r t  failed to consider n o n - - s t a t u t o r y  mitigating f a c t o r s .  

a 
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I 

THE APFELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS OB- 
TAINED IN VIOLATION OF HIS FEDERAL 
AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS; 
DENIAL OF HIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS 
ERROR, AND THE MERITS CF THE SUP- 
PRESSION ISSUE ARE A NECESSARY AND 

PENALTY CASE WHERE THE INADMISSIBLE 
STATEMENTS AND THE INSUFFICIENT FLEA 
CCILLC)QUY GO TO THE VALIDITY AND 
VOLUNTARINESS OF THE PLEA. 

PRCPER SUBJECT OF REVIEW Iri A DEATH 

A .  Necessity of Review 

This case involves a ruling by the trial court denying 

Appellant's mc;tion to suppress c o n f e s s i o n .  The denial resulted i n  

a subsequent plea, against t h e  a d v i c e  of c o u n s e l ,  of guilty of 

first-degree murder and robbery, and imposition of the death 

penalty. While the s t a t e  is expected to contend that t h i s  C o u r t  is 
0 

foreclosed from reviewing t h e  ruling due tG the entry  Gf a guilty 

plea, the Appellant a s s e r t s  that it is necessary and proper f G r  

this C o u r t  t~ fully review the suppression issue i n  a death penalty 

case. 

Section 321.141(4), Florida Statutes (1991), prov ides  that a 

judgment of conviction and sentence of d e a t h  shall he subject t o  

automatic review by the Supreme C o u r t  of Florida. Florida Rule of 

Appellate Procedure 5 J . l 4 O ( f )  provides: 

The cGurt shall review all r u l i n g s  and orders appearing 
i n  the record necessary to pass upon the grGunds of an 
appeal. In the interest of j u s t i c e ,  the court may g r a n t  
any relief t o  which any party is entitled. In capital 
cases, the court shall review the evidence to determine 
if the interest of j u s t i c e  requires a new trial, whether 
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or n o t  insufficiency of the evidence is an issue present- 
ed for review. 

These s t a t u t o r y  and rule provisions were discussed in Anderson 

~ - S b b ,  4 2 0  S o .  2d 574, 576 (Fla. 1982). There the petitioner 

entered a plea of nolo contendere to first-degree murder, attempt- 

ing to preserve the right to appeal his motions to suppress 

confession, and was sentenced to death. On appeal he argued t h e  

suppression issue and the state claimed he should not be allowed to 

contest the trial cGurt*s refusal to suppr~ss h i s  statements 

because, as a matter of law, a confession may n o t  be cons ide red  

dispositive of a case when a plea of nolo contendere is entered. 

Anderson,  420 S o .  2d at 575. This Court disagreed. Based on the 

statutory and rule provisions, the Court ruled: 

Anderson's decision to plead  nolo contendere may well 
havE been prompted by the court's failure to suppress h i s  
statements. Certainly, if the predicate f o r  the judgment 
of conviction is substantially impaired by t h e  inclusion 
of an inadmissible statement, it is proper and necessary 
for this Court, in a death case, t o  review the record and 
determine whether that statement was in fact inadmissi- 
ble. 

Anderson, 4 2 0  S o .  2d at 5 7 6 .  

The C o u r t  then addressed t h e  merits of the suppression issue, 

holding that the t r i a l  court erred in not suppressing the petition- 

er's statements because they were taken in violation of h i s  Sixth 

Amendment rights. 

Although t h e  instant case involved a guilty plea rather than 

a plea of nolo contendere, this is a distinction Gf no consequence 

in a death penalty case, and the scope of review outlined in 

Anderson should apply. Support f o r  this proposition can be found 
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in several cases. In LeDuc v. State, 365 So. 2d 149, 150 and n.3 

(Fla. 1 9 7 8 ) ,  cert. d e n i e d ,  4 4 4  U.S. 5 8 5 ,  100 S. Ct. 175, 62  L. Ed. 

2d 114 (1979), a death penalty case based upon a guilty plea, the 

Court concluded that even where a defendant's counsel does not 

challenge t h e  legal sufficiency of the c o n v i c t i m s  and sentences on 

any basis, section 921.141(4) and Rule 9.140(f) obligate the Court 

to determine i f  the pleas are voluntary and factually sound, and 

t h e  c o n v i c t i m s  legally proper. In Robinson v. State, 373 So. 2d 

$98, 902 (Fla. 1979), the C o u r t  r e j e c t e d  an automatic gzneral 

review from a guilty plea in a non-capital case. However, citing 

section 921.141(4), t h e  court stated that 2 death senaltv case does 

require this type review. Mzlst recently in Koenicr v .  State, 597 

50. 2d 256, 257 at n.2 (Fla. 1992), the Court reiterated its 

position that it is required to r e v i e w  t h e  judgment of conviction 

in death penalty cases pursuant to section 921.141(4), notwith- 

standing a petitioner's failure to move to withdraw h i s  plea, 

e 
'I whether he Fled  guilty o r  nolo contendere. 

In this case as in Anderson, t h e  suppression issue goes to the 

validity of t h e  p l e a  itself. Mr. Krawczuk's decision to p l e a d  due 

to the denial of his motion to suppress confession, makes review of 

t h e  suppression issue by this Court both proper and necessary. 

The validity of the plea must also be questioned an the alternative 

basis of the insufficient plea colloquy. Neither the judge nor the 

7Also, a distinction between a no contest p l e a  and a plea of 
guilty is arbitrary and therefore v i o l a t e s  federal due process. 
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prosecutor clearly addressed the status of the motion to suppress. 

(R404) 

A defendant must know that entry of a guilty plea constitutes 

a waiver of certain constitutional rights. When defenses in a 

proceeding are raised, such as a motion t o  suppress evidence, a 

defendant should understand that he has waived these specific 

defenses and their review by pleading guilty. gillims v .  S tate, 

316 SG. 2d 267, 271 (Fla. 1375>, zitina Boykin v .  Alabama, 395 U.S. 

238,  5 3  5. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969); McMann v. Richardson, 

397 U.S. 759, 9C S .  Ct. 1441, 25 L. Ed. 2d 7 6 3  (1970). 

In Ashley v. State, 614 S o .  2d 4 8 6  (Fla. 1333), this Court 

reemphasized the importance of Boykin, stating, "the 'Jnited States 

Supreme Court noted that '[a] plea of guilty is more than a 

confession which admits that the accused did various acts; it is 

itself a C O ~ V ~ C ~ ~ G I I ;  na th i i ig  remains but to give judgment and 

determine punishment.' A number of important federal rights are 

implicated in the plea process: 

Several federal constitutional rights are involved 
in ;i waiver that takes place when a plea of guilty is 
entered in a state criminal trial. First, is the 
privilege against compulsory self-incrimination guaran-. 
teed by the Fifth Amendment and applicable to the S t a t e s  
by reason of the Fourteenth. Second, is the right to 
trial by jury. Third, is the r i g h t  t o  confront one's 
accusers. We cannot presume a waiver of these three 
important federal rights. . . . 

- Id. 395 U.S. at 243, 89 5. Ct. at 1712 (Citations omitted). Before 

a trial judge can accept a plea of guilty of: nolo contendere, there 

must be 'an affirmative showing that it was intelligent and 

voluntary,' - id. at 2 4 2 ,  8 9  S .  Ct. a t  1711, for '[wlhat is at stake 
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f o r  an accused facing death or imprisonment demands the utmost 

solicitude of which courts are capable in canvassing t h e  matter 

with the accused to make s u r e  he has a full understanding of what 

the plea connotes and of i t s  consequence. '  Id. at 243-44, 59 5. Ct. 
at 1712. 

In keeping with B o y k i n ,  this Court has ruled that in order for 

a plea t o  be knowing and intelligent the defendant must understand 

the reasonable consequences of t h e  plea . . . " Here, the trial 

judge failed to conduct a colloquy at the plea hearing specifically 

addrsssing t h e  motion to suppress confession. The assistant state 

attorney asked only the following questions pertaining t o  the 

motion to suppress: 

MR. BOWER: And you're aware t h a t  there has a l r e a d y  been 
a motion to suppress filed and heard in this case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, sir. 

MR. BOWER: And do yau have any matters with regard t o  the 
suppression issue that you f e e l  should be brought before this 
Court that have not already been brought before this Court? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir. 

(R404) 

This colloquy was wholly insufficient to satisfy the requirements 

of p o v k u ,  and consequently fails to satisfy the requirement of an 

affirmative showing that the plea was intelligent and voluntary. 

Here also where the suppression hearing was incorporated in 

the caurt's factual basis for the plea and the taped confession 

later was played to the jury, aver defense objection, d u r i n g  the 

penalty phase - -  the validity and voluntariness of the p l e a  must be a- 
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questioned. (R412, 3 9 - 9 0 ,  103) Further facts show that during 

deliberations the jury requested and was given the transcript of 

the confession. (R266) In imposing the death  penalty the  trial 

judge stated in his o r d e r ,  "The evidence of [Appellant's] guilt, as 

well as the existeilce of the statutory aggravating circumstances is 

from his detailed c o n f e s s i o n  alofie overwhelming." (R591) The trial 

judge a l s o  used the confession as a basis for ruling o u t  or not 

considering possible nan-mitigating circumstances. (R532) 

Based on t h e  foregoing authorities and facts, the merits of 

the  suppression issue must be addressed as t h e y  go to the validity 

and voluntariness of the plea and subsequent sentence. 

El. Merits of Motion to Suwpress Confession 

Involved here is the illegal arrest of the Appellant, Anton 

Krawczuk, who was seized from his home by Lee and Charlotte County 

sheriff's deputies. With guns drawn, the deputies entered the home 

in the early morning hours without a warrant or probable cause ta 

a r r e s t ,  s e i z e d  the Appellant, and transported him to t h e  police 

station for interrogation. At t h e  statim Mr. Krawczuk confessed 

to robbing and murdering David Staker. Upon hearing a motion t o  

suppress confession, the trial court r u l e d  that the seizure 

violated mt 0n-y. Ne w Y o r k ,  4 4 5  W.S. 5 7 3 ,  100 5. Ct. 1371, € 3  L. 

Ed. 2d 639 (1380). However, the t r i a l  court further ruled, citing 

New York v. Harris ,  495 U . S .  14, 110 S .  Ct. 1640, 109 L. Ed. 2d 13 

(199C), t h a t  the confession was admissible because t h e  Appellant 

had been given and had waived his Miranda rights, thus curing any m 
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illegality of the arrest. (R544-545) This latter ruling by the 

trial court wholly fails to consider Mr. Krawczuk's Fourth 

Amendment and due przlcess protections and is c o n t r a r y  to the law." 

The F o u r t h  Amendment to the Constitution of the United States 

I - -  applicable to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment - -  and 

Section 12, Article I of the Florida Ccnstitution, protect the 

right of pe r sons  t o  be free from unreasonable searches and 

s e i z u r e s .  The physical entry into a home is the chief evil against 

which the wording of t h e  F o u r t h  Amendment is directed. Payton, 4 4 5  

U.S. at 585-587, 601. Only if there is sufficient evidence Gf a 

citizen's participation in a felony to persuade a judicial officer 

that his arrest is constitutionally reasonable, would an arrest 

warrant based on probable cause give limited authority t a  enter a 

home f o r  Fourth Amendment purposes .  4 4 5  U.S. at 602-603. 

0 

The instant case is similar t o  Dunawav v. New York , 442 U.S. 

200, 9 9  S .  Ct. 2 2 4 8 ,  €0 L. Ed. 2d 524 (1373), and Brown v .  

Illinois, 422 U. S. 200, 95 S. Ct. 2 2 5 4 ,  45 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1975). 

'While a confession after proper Miranda warnings may be 
"voluntary" for Fifth Amendment purposes, the giving of Miranda 
alone does not attenuate the taint of an unconstitutional arrest 
f o r  Fourth Amendment purposes .  Brown v .  Illinois, 4 2 2  U.S. 590, 
601-602, 95 S .  Ct. 2254 ,  45 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1975); Dunaway v. New 
York, 442 U.S 200,  217, 99 S. Ct. 2248 ,  60 L. Ed. 2d 3 2 4  (1979); 
Taylor v. Alabama, 457 U.S. 687, 693, 102 S. Ct. 2 6 6 4 ,  7 3  L. Ed. 2d 
314 (1982). 

Additionally, New York v. Harris, 495 U.S. at 20, does n o t  
hold that the giving and waiver of Miranda rights makes a confes- 
sion admissible. The Harris Court, which w a s  sharply divided, held 
that where t h e  police have prabable cause to a r r e s t ,  the Fourth 
Amendment does n o t  bar the use of a c o n f e s s i o n  made outside the 
home, even if the statement is taken after an arrest made in the 
home in violation of PavtoQ. The distinction between the instant 
case and Harris is discussed later in this b r i e f .  
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In Dunaway, an informant gave a police detective information which 

implicated the petitioner in a murder and robbery. The detective 

obtained some information b u t  not enough to get a warrant for the 

petitioner's arrest. Nevertheless, he ordered other detectives to 

pick up and b r i n g  in the petitioner. Three detectives found the 

petitioner at a neighbor's house and took him i n t o  custody. 

Although not told he gas under arrest, hz was n o t  free to leave. 

He was driven to palice headquarters in a palice car, placed in an 

interrogation room, and given Miranda warnings. He waived counsel 

and eventually made statements and s k e t c h e s  incriminating him in 

the crime. The trial court denied his motion to suppress the 

statements and sketches. 4 4 2  U. S. 203. 

In Brown, the petitioner arrived home in the early evening to 

find two detectives, guns drawn, inside h i s  apartment. The 

detectives placed the petitioner under arrest, and eventually 

identified themselves. They made the ar res t  f o r  the purpose of 

questioning the petitioner in a murder investigation. They had no 

warrant or probable cause f o r  arrest. The petitioner was driven by 

t w G  detectives t o  the police station, interrogated, advised of h i s  

Miranda rights, and eventually made two statements that he and 

another man committed the murder. The trial court denied  his 

motion to szlppress the  statements. 422  U . S .  at 532- -596 .  

Cn appeal  t o  the Supreme Caurt, t h e  confessions in both cases 

were hsld to be inadi-nisaible because t h e y  were Gbtained through 

custodial interrogation after an illegal arrest, and no significant 

intervening events brake the causal connection between the illegal e 



arrest and the confession. The Court identified factors to 

consider in determining whether a confession has been purged of t h e  

taint of an illegal a r r e s t ,  including: temporal proximity of the 

arrest and confession; the presence of intervening circumstances; 

and the purpose and flagrancy of t h e  police misconduct. The burden 

of proving a confession admissible rests with the state, Dunaway, 

442 U.S. at 218; Brotjn, 422 U. S .  at €03-604. 

In Dunaway, the Court found that the petitioner was admittedly 

seized without probable cause in the hope that something might turn 

up, and confessed without any intervening event of significance. 

4 4 2  U.S. a t  218. In Brown, the a r re s t  also was investigatory and 

for questioning in the hopes that something would turn up. 4 2 2  

U . S .  at 605. $See alsc, Taylor v ,  Alabama, 457 U.S. 687, 632-693, 

102 S. Ct. 2 6 6 4 ,  73 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1982) (six hours between illegal 

arrest  and confession did not purge the taint of the illegal 

arrest, nor did a five t o  ten minute v i s i t  w i t h  friends; t h e  filing 

of an arrest warrant during interrogation did not attenuate the 

illegal arrest and the confession; police conduct - -  effectuating 

investigatory arrest without probable cause based on an uncorrobo- 

rated informant's t i p ,  involuntarily transporting petitioner to t h e  

station f o r  interrogation in the hope something would turn up, 

obtaining a voluntary cofifession, and lack of abuse d i d  not cure 

the illegality or  show a lack of flagrant o r  purposeful conduct OA 

the part of the police). Compare, Sanchez -- Velasco v ,  State, 570 

So. 2d 908, 914 (Fla. 1990) (correction of illegal actions by 

police, release from custody, and subsequent voluntary t r a v e l  to 
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the police station in police car were sufficient intervening events 

attenuating initial invalid arrest). 

The facts of the instant case are particularly similar to 

those  in -. Here, detectives obtained .some information from 

an individual of unknown reliability who purportedly said he had 

gotten p r o p e r t y ,  connected to the victim, from the Appellant and 

co--defendant. Based on this information, the detectives possibly 

discussed getting a search warrant but n o t  an arrest warrant. 

( R 2 9 3 ,  311, 3 2 6 )  In t h e  early morning, five deputies from t w o  

jurisdictions, driving two c a r s ,  decided t o  g o  to the residence of 

Mr. Krawczuk and the co--defendant, knock on t h e  door, and take Mr. 

Krawczuk and the  co--defendant in t c ;  the station to get information 

- -  such as descriptions and locations - _  for an affidavit for a 

search warrant. (R287-288, 2 9 2 ,  316, 3 2 3 )  

A t  least two deputies had their guns drawn and t o o k  Mr. 

Krawczuk into custody. (R337, 342-343, 352) Although the detec-- 

tives testified they d i d  n o t  place the men under "physical" arrest, 

Mr. Krawczuk and the co-defendant were not free to leave. (R321, 

3 4 4 ,  354) They were escorted to a patrol car and driven downtown, 

each seated beside a detective. (R320-321, 340) Once a t  t h e  police 

station Mr. Krawczuk was placed in an interrogation room, given 

Miranda warnings, waived counsel, first denied the crime, and then 

confessed a f t e r  t h e  police s a i d  they had evidence that could link 

him to t h e  crime. (R305-,310, 345-347) 

As in Dunaway and the other cited authorities, the c o n f e s s i o n  

here was obtained through custodial interrogation after an illegal 
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seizure. The seizure was unlawful, made f o r  investigatory purposes 

in hopes that something would turn up, and was the result of police 

misconduct. Nothing in the record shows a significant intervening 

event which brake the connection between the illegal arrest and the 

confession. 

Mr. Rrawczuk's constitutional rights were violated xhen the 

police arrived at his home and, without a warrant OK probable 

cause, drew their guns, and seized him. His statements at the 

police station subsequent t o  h i s  illegal arrest were presumptively 

t a i n t e d .  There was no showing of a clear and unequivocal break in 

the chain of illegality to dissipate the t a i n t  of the illegal 

action. Thus, the statements obtained in violation of the Fourth 

and Fourteenth Amendments, and in violation of Article I, Section 

12 of the Florida Constitution were inadmissible and should have 

been suppressed. Duna way; Brown. 

The facts also show that, as in Dunawav and Brown, Mr. 

Krawczuk was admittedly seized nithaut prabable cause. As noted, 

the detectives by their own admission d i d  n o t  discuss an a r re s t  

warrant and only "probably" discussed a search warrant which was 

no t  obtained. Also by their own admission they were on an 

information-fishing expedition. The only mention of probable cause 

came from Tamayo's response to the question of whether he intended 

to place Mr. Krawczuk under arrest at the t i m e  he went to h i s  home 

and TamayG said, "I believed initially that the probable cause may 

have e x i s t e d ;  hovever . . basically the main reason f o r  going 

there was they were there to take them downtown voluntarily for a 
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questioning." ( R 3 3 3 )  In other words, t h e  seizure was without 

probable cause and made f o r  investigatory purposes. 9 

In New York v. Harris, 495 U.S. 14, 21, 110 S .  Ct. 1640, 

109 L. Ed. 2d 13 (1990), t h e  Court held that where the police have 

probable cause to arrest a suspect, the exclusianary rule does not 

bar the state's use of a statement made by a defendant outside h i s  

home, even though the statement is taken after an arrest made in 

the home in violation of Pay t o n  v. New Y ~ r k ,  445 U.S. 573. Harris 

is inapplicable to the instant case, however, because there, unlike 
here, probable cause existed. 10 

'The Dunaway Court noted factual likeness to Brown, in that 
there was a quality G f  purposefulness in t h e  arrest, as if on an 
expedition for evidence. 4 4 2  U . S .  at 2 1 8 .  A s  the Brown Court 
stated: 

The illegality . . . had a quality of purposeful- 
n e s s ,  The impropriety of the a r r e s t  was obvious; 
awareness af t h e  fact was virtually conceded by the two 
detectives when they repeatedly acknowledged . . . that 
the purpose of their action was 'for investigation' or 
f o r  'questioning.' . . . 

"There was no question that probable cause existed in Harris, 
and no facts concerning probable cause to arrest  were presented. 
Four Justices - -  Marshall, Brennan, Blackmun and Stevens jGined 
in a sharp dissent, based on the principles of Fourth Amendment 
protection espoused in Payton, DunawaY, Brown, Taylor, and Wonq 
Sun. 

On remand, the New Pork court found that the Supreme Court's 
ruling did not adequately protect the search and seizure r i g h t s  of 
the citizens of New York ,  and that the state constitution and right 
to counsel rule required that statements obtained from an accused 
following a Payton violation must be suppressed unless the t a i n t  
resulting from t h e  violation has been attenuated. Thus ,  the court 
ruled Harris' statement should be suppressed and a new trial 
ordered. New P o r k  v. Haxris , 77 N.Y. 2d 434, 570 N.E.2d 1051, 568 
N.Y.S.2d 702 (1931). 

Compare, Traylor v. State, 5 9 5  S o .  2d 957,  961 (Fla. 1992) 
(under federalist system of government, states may place more 

4 2 2  U.S. at 6 0 5 .  

rigorous restraints on government intrusion than t h e  federal 
(continued . . . )  
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A s  previously noted the instant case involves both a Pav ton  

violation and lack of probable cause. A s  to the l a c k  of probable 

cause to a r r e s t :  

. . . It is basic that an a r re s t  with or without a 
warrant must stand upon firmer ground than mere suspi- 
cion, . . . though the arresting officer need not have in 
hand evidence which would suffice tG convict. The 
quantum of information which constitutes probable cause 

- - ~ -  evidence which would 'warrant a man of reasonable 
caution in the belief' that a felony has been committed, 
. . .  - -  must be measured by t h e  facts of the particular 
case. . . , 

particularity of the information on which an officer may 
act are more stringent where an arrest warrant is absent, 
they surely cannot be less stringent than where an arrest 
warrant is obtained. . . . 

could, on the information which impelled them to a c t ,  
have procured a warrant . . . 

Whether or not t h e  requirements of reliability and 

The threshold question . . is whether the officers 

Wonq Sun v. United States, 371 U . S .  471, 479-450, 8 3  S. Ct. 407, 

9 L. Ed. 2d 431 (1963) (citations omitted). 

F l o r i d a  courts have follawed Wons Sun, Brown, and Dunaway, In 

addressing issues of lack of probable cause in cases where a 

"suspect's*' connection to a crime is based on far more information, 

albeit conjecture, than is present h e r e .  For example, in State v. 

Roqers., 427 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), a murder case, the 

court held the trial judge properly granted a motion to suppress 

two confessions. There the pGlice lacked probable cause to arres t  

the defendant, and no arrest warrant was obtained. At the time of 

the defendant's arrest, the sheriff's department knew the identity 

lo ( . . . continued) 
charter imposes; they may n o t ,  however, place more restrictions on 
the fundamental rights of their citizens than the federal Constitu- 
tion permits). 
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of the victim, the cause of her death, the description of the 

victim's ca r ,  that Rogers drove a similar car and had been dating 

the victim, and t h a t  the defendant t r i e d  to evade a r r e s t .  The 

court h e l d  that even if all the information provided t o  the 

sheriff's department were shown to be reliable, it could not have 

justified a belief that Rogers committed the murder. 4 2 7  So. 2d at 

2 5 7 .  

More recently, in State v. Stevens, 574 So. 2d 197 ( F l a .  1st 

DCA 19Pl), the trial court determined that Stevens' initial 

confession to murder and robbery xas properly suppressed because 

t h e  police violated the F o u r t h  and Fourteenth Amendments when, 

without probable cause OK a warrant, they seized the defendant at 

his mother's residence and transported him to t h e  sheriff's office 

f o r  interrogation. On appeal the  state argued unsuccessfully that, 

based an t h e  collective knowledge and information of all the 

officers involved in t h e  investigation, probable cause existed f o r  

a misdemeanor a r r e s t ,  and an arrest for felony grand theft and 

possibly f o r  murder. 574 S s .  2d at 202 .  The officers' information 

apparently consisted of knowing, among other t h i n g s ,  that the 

defendant and another person were in the vicinity of the decedent's 

truck,  the truck was parked near h i s  sister's house, and the 

defendant I--  when seen by an officer near the truck had given a 

false name. 574 So. 2d at 199. 

In the instant case, detectives from one jurisdiction obtained 

some information from an individual of unknown reliability who 

purportedly s a i d  he had gotten property, cGnnected to the victim, 
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frGm the Appellant and co--defendant. Based on this information 

alone, detectives from a second jurisdiction joined them and 

discussed possibly getting a search warrant but n o t  an arrest 

warrant. Without a warrant, and based only on mere s u s p i c i o n  and 

conjecture that the Appellant and co-defendant might have known 

something, they then invaded the Appellant's home in the early 

morning hours with their guns drawn to "get information." ( R 2 9 2 -  

293, 311, 3 2 6 )  The foregoing authorities and the facts of this 

case show that probable cause did not exist. 

The police actim here was patently unlawful and violated Mr. 

Krawczuk's federal and state constitutional rights. The state 

failed to show the confession was admissible on any basis. Because 

Mr. Krawczuk w a s  seized in his home without a warrant o r  probable 

cause and h i s  subsequent confession was not attenuated from t h e  

unlawful police activity, his judgment and sentence should be 

reversed, his confession suppressed, and a new trial ordered. 

39  



ISSUE 1 1  

THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS 
WERE VIOLATED BY THE FAILURE OF THE 
TRIAL COURT TO CONDUCT A PROPER 
COLLOQUY 3R GIVE SUFFICIENT ATTEN- 
TION TO SIGNIFICANT FACTORS WHICH, 
WHEN COMBINED, RAISED A SUFFICIENT 
DOUBT OF COMPETENCY TO REQUIRE FUR- 
THER INQUIRY OR EVALUATION. 

Also going to t h e  validity of Mr. Krawczuk's guilty plea and 

the court's acceptance Gf it, is the question G f  t h e  limited 

colloquy addressing the Appellant's increased depression and 

attendant use of psychotropic medication, and the obligation of the 

court t o  further inquire or order additional psychiatric evaluation 

of the Appellant. K o e n b ,  597 S o .  2d 2 5 6 ;  Anderson, 420 So. 2d 574; 

Robinson, 373 So. 2d 8 9 5 ;  LeDuc, 365 So. 2d 149; 5921.141(4), Fla. 

Stat. (1989); Fla. R. APF. P. 3.14O(f), 3.210, 3.215. 

A waiver of constitutional rights must be intelligent and 

voluntary in order t a  comport with due process under t h e  Fourteenth 

Amendment. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. at 242; Johnson v, Zerbst, 

304 U.S. 458, 5:: S .  Ct. 1019, 8 2  L. Ed. 1461 (1335). When a 

defendant's life is at stake, the courts must be "particularly 

sensitive to insure that every safeguard is observed." Greqq v. 

Georcria, 428 U.S. 353, 96 S. Ct. 2303,  49 L. Ed. 2d 8 5 9 ,  582  

(1976). The failure to observe procedures adequate to protect a 

defendant's right not t o  be tried convicted while incompetent 

deprives him of his due process rights. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 

375, 3 7 8 ,  86 S. Ct. 536, 15 L. Ed. 2d 815 (136€), citinq Bishop v. 

United States, 350 U.S. 361, 76 S .  Ct. -240, 100 L. Ed. 835 ( 1 9 5 E ) .  a 
40 



Pate v. Robinson involved an Illinois statute which required 

a trial judge on his own motion to impanel a jury and conduct a 

sanity hearing where ther? is evidence raising a "bona fide doubt" 

as t o  a defendant's competence to stand trial. The Illinois 

Supreme Court held that t h e  mental alertness and understanding 

displayed by Robinson in his colloquies with the trial judge showed 

a lack of evidence to require a hearing. The Supreme Cour t  held, 

however, that while Robinson's demeanor might be relevant to the 

ultimate d e c i s i o n  as t~ his sanity, it cannot be relied upon t o  

dispense with a hearing on that issue. 3 8 3  U.S. at 385. 

In Drope v. Missouri, 420 U. 5. 162, 175, 95 S .  Ct. 896, 33 L. 

Ed. 2d 103 (1975), the dispute was not about the evidence relevant 

t~ the petitioner's mental condition but the inferences to be drawn 

from the evidence and whether, in light of what w a s  known, it was 

error to fail to make further inquiry into the petitioner's 

competence. There the lower courts had a psychiatric evaluation 

that suggested competence and cooperation but also indicated 

bGrderline mental deficiency and chronic a n x i e t y  with depression. 

420 U.S. at 175--176. Later  Mr. Drape shot himself to avoid trial, 

but the lower courts found this action suggested strongly an 

awareness of what was going OR. 420 U. S. a t  178"-179. The Supreme 

Court reversed, holding that in the context of the evaluation and 

the suicide attempt, the lower courts gave insufficient attention 

to the indicia, and a sufficient doubt of competence was raised to 

require further inquiry. The Drope court also noted: 

The import of our decision in Pate v Robinson is 
that evidence of a defendant's irrational behavior, his 
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demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on 
competence to stand trial are all relevant in determining 
whether further inquiry is required, but  that even one of 
these factors standing alone may, in some circumstances, 
be sufficient. . . . 

4 2 0  U . S .  at 1 8 0 .  

Even xhen a defendant is competent at the commence- 
ment of his trial, a trial court must always be alert to 
circumstances suggesting a change that would render the 
accused ufiable to meet. t h e  standards of competence to 
stand trial. 

4 2 0  U.S. at 180-181. 

In the instant case the Appellant was found competent in April 

of 1991, although suffering from mild depression not requiring 

medication at that time. (R6O6A)l1 Six months l a t e r  when he 

entered his plea of guilty and asked for the death penalty against 

advice of counsel, Mr, Krawczuk's depression had increased and he 

had been placed on the psychotropic medication, Elavil. 12 a 
"Depressive disorders n o t  rising t o  the level of a major 

depressive episode, persist over a long period of time, and to meet 
psychiatric criteria must present at l e a s t  thrEe of t h e  following 
symptoms: 1. insomnia G ~ T  hypersamnia; 2. low energy level or 
chronic tiredness; 3 .  feelings of inadequacy, l o s s  of self.-esteem, 
or self-deprecation; 4 .  decreased effectiveness or productivity at 
school, work, or home: 5. decreased attention, concentration, or 
ability to think clearly; 6. s o c i a l  withdrawal; 7. loss of interest 
in or enjoyment of pleasurable activities; 8 .  irritability of 
excessive anger ;  9. inability t o  respond with apparent pleasure to 
p r a i s e  or rewards; 10. less active or talkative than usual, or 
f e e l s  slowed down or restless; 11. pessimistic attitude toward the 
future, brooding about past events, or feeling sorry f a r  s e l f ;  12. 
tearfulness or crying; 13. recurrent thoughts of death GT suicide. 

American Psychiatr ic  Association, Treatments of Psychiatric 
m o r d e r s ,  V a l .  3, 1341 (1989). 

12Elavil , or Amitriptyline HC1, is an antidepressant with 
sedative effects. Xt stays in the system for up to 14 days.  It 
can impair mental and physical abilities and can cause a number of 
reactions includinq c o n f u s i o n ,  poor  concentration, and disorienta-" 
tion. The product -information sheet f o r  Elavil also warns that the 

(continued . . . )  
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The court made a brief colloquy concerning the medication and 

his mental state, accepting as patently true h i s  statements that 

the Elavil only calmed him and helped him get to sleep, he had no 

previous mental disorders o r  mental health problems, and the  

medication w a s  not affecting him at the plea. (R393----395) The court 

seemed to be of the impression that because the drug was taken at 

8:OO at night, any effect was gone, as i f  it worked like aspirin. 

( R 4 12 _. 4 13 ) 

Five months after the plea, just p r i o r  t o  Mr. Krawczuk's 

penalty phase, counsel f o r  the co-defendant alleged Mr, Krawczuk 

should be further evaluated to determine h i s  competency or suicidal 

ideation, (R522--624) particularly in light of his determination t o  

seek the death penalty with the assistance of counsel, and his 

determination n o t  to o f f e r  any evidence of mitigation - -  thus m 
assuring affirmance of his case on appeal and using his attorney as 

a constitutional prop.  (R662-670) The assistant state attorney 

seemed tG a l s o  accept the theory that the Appellant's statements at 

the plea colloquy were patently true and that taking Elavil was 

like taking a s p i r i n .  H e  stated t h e  plea colloquy clearly showed 

the Appellant was n o t  "under the influence." (R671) 

I asked him and I believe the Court had, if he was under 
the effects of that dkug at the time he entered the plea. 
He said no. In fact, he s a i d  the last time he took the 
medication was the night before early in the evening. 
And he said he felt no effects from it, all it d i d  was 
calm him when he d i d  take it, anyway. 

l2 ( . .continued) 
possibility of suicide in depressed patients remains until 
significant remission occurs. (R628-629) 
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